THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

DEC 28 2018

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appeal from York County Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable Brian Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000423

---

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent,

v.

Jonathan Ostrowski,.....Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III  
LAUREN C. HOBBS  
William G. Yarborough III, Attorney at Law, LLC  
522 North Church Street  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 331-1612

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT**

**

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHEN THE SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAVIT CONTAINED FALSE AND MISLEADING FACTS, AND OMITTED MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY INFORMATION, AND WHEN THE REMAINING INFORMATION FAILS TO PROVIDE A SUBSTANTIAL BASIS FOR THE MAGISTRATE TO FIND PROBABLE CAUSE.
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING A NARCOTICS INVESTIGATOR TO OPINE ON THE DRUG-DEALING RELATED USES AND SIGNIFICANCE OF ITEMS FOUND DURING THE SEARCH OR ANOTHER INVESTIGATOR THAT MERELY EXTRACTED DATA FROM A CELLPHONE TO OPINE AND TRANSLATE THE TEXT MESSAGES AS RELATING TO DRUG-DEALING IF NEITHER INVESTIGATOR WAS QUALIFIED AS AN EXPERT WITNESS AND SUCH OPINION TESTIMONY REQUIRED SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE, SKILL, EXPERIENCE OR TRAINING?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE TEXT MESSAGES AND PHOTOGRAPHS THEREOF THAT PURPORTEDLY WERE EXCHANGED BETWEEN APPELLANT AND UNIDENTIFIED INDIVIDUALS AND ALLEGEDLY DEPICT APPELLANT'S PRIOR DRUG TRANSACTIONS WHEN THE STATE HAD NOT SATISFIED CONDITIONAL RELEVANCE AND THE TEXT MESSAGES WERE NOT PROPERLY AUTHENTICATED?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING THE TEXT MESSAGES INTO EVIDENCE WHEN THEY WERE INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE TEXT MESSAGES INTO EVIDENCE IF IT CONSTITUTED AS IMPERMISSIBLE CHARACTER EVIDENCE?
- VI. DID THE TRIAL COURT MISAPPLY THE STANDARD TO DETERMINE THE TEXT MESSAGES WERE ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 404(b) OR FAIL TO MAKE SPECIFIC FINDINGS ON THE RECORD?
- VII. WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN TO APPELLANT AND WERE AMBIGUOUS OR CONFUSING WHEN THE TRIAL COURT INSTRUCTED THE JURY ITS DUTY WAS TO DETERMINE THE TRUTH OF THE EVIDENCE AND DEFINED A REASONABLE DOUBT FROM THE PERSPECTIVE OF A JUROR IN SEARCH OF THE TRUTH?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June 2017, Appellant Jonathan Stanley Ostrowski was indicted for trafficking meth (“meth”) 28 grams or more; possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; possession with intent to distribute (“PWID”) a quantity of alprazolam, possession of a handgun by a person convicted of a crime, and possession of a handgun with its serial number obliterated. (Indictments, 2017-GS-46-02573, 73A; 74-76). The offenses were alleged to all have occurred on January 25, 2017. (Indictments 2017-GS-46-02573–76). Dayne C. Phillips, Esq. represented Appellant. Assistant Solicitor Aaron J. Hayes prosecuted the case. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Brian Gibbons on February 27, 2018 to March 1, 2018 on all charges but for PWID alprazolam, which was dismissed. Prior to trial, Appellant moved to suppress all evidence seized from the search of his residence. (Trial Tr. p. 90, ln. 20 – p. 91, ln. 7). After a *Franks v. Delaware* hearing, the trial judge denied the motion. (Tr. p. 92 – p. 120, ln. 7). *See infra* pp. 9-10. Appellant also moved to exclude evidence of his alleged prior drug transactions and subsequent drug possession under Rule 404, SCRE. (Trial Tr. p. 144, ln. 4-18). The trial court granted the motion in part and trial proceeded thereafter. (Tr. p. 240). *See infra* pp. 34-36, fn. 9. The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty on all charges. (Tr. p. 530, ln. 10-18). Judge Gibbons sentenced Appellant to eighteen years on the trafficking charge and a five year concurrent sentence for each weapon charge. (Tr. p. 551, ln. 23 – p. 552, ln. 1-12; Sentencing sheets) Appellant timely filed a notice of his intent to appeal. (Notice of Appeal). This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The charges arose from the seizure of 31.66 grams of meth during the execution of a warrant to search the Appellant’s residence, 162 Bailey Avenue, Rock Hill in York County (“the residence”) on January 25, 2017. The search came about as part of an ongoing investigation and surveillance conducted by the MJDEU and the DEA (Ct. Ex. 3 – 5 ; Trial Tr. p. 140, ln. 20-22; p. 159; p. 174,

ln. 1-7). Various individuals including codefendant Alexandria Peters, Appellant,<sup>1</sup> and still unidentified individuals apparently all became subjects of the investigation. (Ct. Ex. 4-5). Unrelated to the charges on trial, Peters sold alprazolam to a confidential informant (“CI”) during a controlled buy in Fort Mill four months prior to the search warrant in September 2016. (Ct. Ex. 4). Arrests warrants for distribution of alprazolam and distribution of alprazolam within proximity of a school were obtained as a result. (Ct. Ex. 4).

On the morning of the search, Peters was arrested on the outstanding warrants for the alprazolam charges while at a nearby bank, and one alprazolam pill and one clonazepam pill were found in her purse during a search incident to arrest (Ct. Ex. 4; Tr. p. 205, ln. 1-6; p. 460, ln. 4-10). Peters was charged possession of alprazolam and clonazepam as a result. (Ct. Ex. 4). She was subsequently also charged with trafficking meth and a weapons charge in connection with the search of the residence. (Ct. Ex. 4).

Notwithstanding the investigation and surveillance of the residence, Investigator Burkhardt testified when the search warrant was issued, there was no evidence of drug distribution occurring at the residence or involving Appellant, and there was no evidence Peters intended to distribute the pills found in her purse. (Tr. p. 99, ln. 8-20; p. 104, ln. 3-13). Because Peters and others were living at the residence and visiting frequently, the State was to prove the charges against Appellant through constructive possession through circumstantial evidence. (Tr. 146, ln. 19-22; p. 162; p. 173, ln. 19-21; Ct. Ex. 4-5). MJDEU Investigator Leland Harrelson and DEA Agent Jason Satterwhite, who had been assisting with the investigation, both testified they personally only sporadically conducted surveillance and did not know whether any individuals or whom may have staying at the residence or coming or going from the residence in the days before the search. (Tr. p. 287, ln. 4 – p. 288, ln.

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant and codefendant Peters were dating and living together at the time.

5; p. 321, ln. 14-17). Any other surveillance conducted at the residence other than the day of the search was not recorded in any report or other discovery. (Tr. p. 287, ln. 4-p. 288, ln. 5). Agent Satterwhite did testify that he saw five different cars at the residence on one previous occasion, and specifically recalled an unidentified man come and go from the residence in a vehicle subsequently identified during the investigation. (Tr. p. 305-307; p. 324, ln. 9-15).<sup>2</sup> Further, Peters testified that Appellant would have friends and family members, “not just people”, come over and visit for a night or stay there for extended periods of time. (Tr. pp. 452-453). Peters also explained that several people would come to the home at any one time to pick up machinery and equipment, such as leaf-blowers from Appellant’s previous landscaping business, which she would list for sale online on his behalf while he was at work as a painter and drywall installer. (Tr. p. 447, ln. 15 – p. 448, ln. 22). Likewise, Appellant explained that he often had anywhere from eight to twelve friends, family members and their friends staying at his home. (Tr. p. 464, ln. 1-21). Others’ belongings were consequently left behind or stored at his home. (Tr. p. 466, ln. 16-19).

The State presented bills and other forms listing the residence as Appellant’s address and Appellant testified he lived at the residence. (Tr. p. 463). Appellant had never denied that the meth pipes found were his and testified at trial that items found during the search, like tinfoil with meth residue inside resulted from his own personal use. (Tr. p. 470, ln. 10-16). Appellant also admitted that he struggled with drug addiction for quite some time, but stated he was not a trafficker and as he has maintained from the day of his arrest, the bag of meth found did not belong to him, (Tr. p. 470, ln. 17-18; p. 463).<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Apart from general physical descriptions, the man and the car remained unidentified at trial; his identity and license plate number had been redacted from investigative reports to protect a larger unrelated investigation by the DEA and other agencies.(Tr. pp. 305-310).

<sup>3</sup> Investigator Harrelson testified Appellant said the bag of meth was not his but was forthright that some of the pipes did belong to him. (Tr. p. 260, ln. 10-18).

The 31.66 grams of meth was found in a plastic bag in the pocket of a folded pair of men's size 38 pants. (Tr. pp. 205, ln. 18 --207; p. 363, ln. 10-12; St. Ex. 2(I)). Investigators found the pants inside an armoire placed in a corner area off the residence's entrance and feet away from a bedroom.<sup>4</sup> (Tr. p. 205, ln. 18 – p. 207; p. 283). The armoire was packed to the brim with both men's and women's clothes in various sizes. (Tr. p. 469, ln. 19—p. 470, ln. 4). A makeshift dressing area with a vanity table was positioned next to the armoire. (Tr. p. 205, ln. 10-25; St. Ex. 2(C)) Cosmetics, purses, ash trays, and a roll of tin foil were strewn atop the table. Tr. p. 202; p. 204, ln. 17 – p. 206; St. Ex. 2C, 2D, 2T). In another bedroom on the other side of the home, officers found a .32 caliber pistol and box of ammunition inside a nightstand. (Tr. p. 204; St. Ex. 2(G)). Investigators also found cosmetics, purses, a display of high heels, and both men's and women's clothing and other personal items in the closet and other areas of the bedroom. (Tr. p. 204, ln. 17 – p. 205, ln. 25; St. Ex. 2H, 2M, 2T). Photos of Appellant and Peters, taken alone, together, and together with other individuals were displayed in the bedroom as well as throughout the kitchen and living room. (Tr. pp. 194-195; p. 205, ln. 7-9; p. 283). Also throughout the living room, kitchen, and garage, investigators found: both visibly used and unused meth pipes; razor blades; one marijuana pipe; pieces of tinfoil, one of which contained 0.03 grams of meth inside its crinkles; and other makeshift and small objects used in smoking meth. (Tr. p. 201, ln. 14-15; p. 247). On top of the refrigerator, a box of great value plastic wrap was found. (Tr. p. 197; St. Ex. 2R, 2S). A digital scale was found in the living room in a basket with a small piece of tin foil and various mundane items. (St. Ex. 2O, 2P; Tr. pp. 198-199; p. 256). Investigators found another meth pipe, box of plastic sandwich bags, and razor blades, and scale amidst dozens of tools in a shed near the garage.

---

<sup>4</sup> Officers did not know whom was staying in that bedroom and no pictures were taken of it. (Tr. p. 286, ln. 3-7; p. 345, ln. 23-25).

(St. Ex. 2AA, 2Y, 2Z; Tr. pp. 201-202). Over objection, Investigator Harrelson testified extensively regarding the common uses of some of the items when smoking meth, as well as the common uses and significance of the other items to selling meth. *See infra* pp. 23-24.

The altered pistol and the bag of meth found were not tested for DNA, and unbeknownst to Appellant prior to trial, neither were tested for fingerprints until January 2018 after both were handled by various investigators. (Tr. pp. 423 – 424, ln. 1-13; Tr. p. 432, ln. 10-14). Consequently, the fingerprint technician was unable to lift an identifiable fingerprint off the pistol, and testified that contamination or improper evidence handling was a possible reason no identifiable fingerprint could be obtained.<sup>5</sup> (Tr. p. 427, ln. 13 – p. 429, ln. 12). No identifiable fingerprints could be lifted off the plastic ziplock bag of meth found either even though such a plastic bag “is an excellent surface for fingerprints normally...The surface itself [] typically reveals good impressions” (Tr. p. 431 – p. 433, ln. 8-15). Another investigator and forensic technician concluded it was highly likely a fingerprint could have been lifted off either item had they been soon after collection; but handling by ungloved or even gloved hands would have removed any fingerprints. (Tr. p. 433, ln. 19—p. 434, ln. 16). Investigator Harrelson testified that DNA testing or fingerprinting is conducted to prove ownership in some cases where ownership is indeterminable. (Tr. p. 285, ln. 17-21).

The trial judge charged the jury on constructive possession, third party guilt, mere presence, expert testimony, and instructions using truth language. (Tr. p. 516, ln. 3-11 – p. 522). Shortly into deliberations, the jury submitted two questions: (1) “How do they tie the weapon to the defendant?”, and (2) “Why were DNA or fingerprints not protocol at the very beginning or for any case for that matter?” (Tr. p. 528, ln. 4-7). The trial judge then instructed the jury it was to consider the evidence

---

<sup>5</sup> Investigator Rainier testified that contrary to his evidence collection training, he may have handled the pistol and box of ammunition with his bare hands before it had the opportunity to be fingerprinted or tested for DNA. (Tr. p. 332, ln. 15 – p. 334, ln. 5; p. 336, ln. 9 – p. 338, ln. 12).

presented and not to speculate. (Tr. p. 529, ln. 1-14). The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all charges shortly thereafter. (Tr. p. 529, ln. 15-22).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE THE SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAVIT CONTAINED FALSE AND MISLEADING FACTS, AND OMITTED MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY INFORMATION, AND THE REMAINING INFORMATION FAILS TO PROVIDE A SUBSTANTIAL BASIS FOR THE MAGISTRATE TO FIND PROBABLE CAUSE.

#### Relevant facts

Appellant moved to suppress evidence seized during the search based upon the deliberate, misleading allegations and omissions in the affidavit pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978); the overbreadth the authorization to the search in the search warrant; insufficient facts to support probable cause or lack of nexus to Appellant or drug distribution. (Tr. p. 90, ln. 20 – p. 91, ln. 9). In the search warrant at issue, the description of the property authorized to be seized lists the following:

Alprazolam, Clonazepam, marijuana, and marijuana paraphernalia any currency, records, receipts, to include written records, computers, computer software, hard drives, cell phones, and any data stored on these devices. Also any packaging materials, scales, any other equipment or materials used in the use, sale, and/or distribution of Alprazolam, Clonazepam and Marijuana.

(Ct. Ex. 5). For the reasons supporting affiant Investigator Daniel Burkhardt's belief the aforementioned items would be at the residence, an ongoing narcotics investigation and surveillance of Appellant by the YCMDEU and DEA; Peters's outstanding arrest warrants for alprazolam distribution charges; and Peters's statements about marijuana in the residence are described. (*See* Ct. Ex. 5 in full). The affidavit goes on to state:

Based on the affiant's training and experience in narcotic investigations, it is believed that drug dealers keep contraband, proceeds of drug transactions, and records of drug transactions that may include written records, photographs, video tapes, audio tapes, computer hard drives and disks, and cellular phones within the

secure locations of their residence, out buildings, and vehicles owned and operated by the residents.

(Ct. Ex. 5). Appellant's name, birthdate, race and gender are listed in a section describing the premises, person, or thing to be searched. (Ct. Ex. 5). Peters is not listed at all in this section yet the specific facts provided to obtain the warrant involve Peters only. (Ct. Ex. 5). Investigator Burkhart did not give oral testimony to supplement the affidavit. (Tr. p. 94, ln. 8-21;p. 102, ln. 19-20).

The *Franks* hearing revealed that Peters's outstanding arrest warrants stemmed from controlled buys with a CI that took place at her "secondary residence" in Fort Mill on September 15, 2016, months prior to the application of the search warrant. (Tr. p. 98; p. 106, 11-16; Ct. Ex. 4). Investigator Burkhart admitted that at the time of Peters's arrest, and at the time he applied for the search warrant, *there was no evidence that Peters was distributing the pills found in her possession following her arrest on January 25, 2017 on the outstanding warrants.* (Tr. p. 99, ln. 8-14).<sup>6</sup> Investigator Burkhart also admitted *there was no evidence of any type of drug distribution occurring at the residence or evidence that Appellant was involved in drug distribution at the time he applied for the search warrant.* (Tr. p. 99, ln. 8-20; p. 104, ln. 3-13). The trial court nonetheless found no issue with the search warrant or the magistrate's determination of probable cause. (Tr. p. 127). This was reversible error.

### **Standard of Review**

When considering "appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error." *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). This is a two-part analysis: "(1) whether the record supports the trial court's factual findings and (2) whether those factual findings

---

<sup>6</sup> In contrast to the affidavit, he also stated two (2) pills were found in her purse during the search, one (1) clonazepam and one (1) alprazolam. (Tr. p. 99, 12-14; Ct. Ex. 4, p. 2).

establish reasonable suspicion or probable cause.” *State v. Johnson*, 410 S.C. 10, 18, fn. 3, 763 S.E.2d 36, 40, fn. 3 (Ct. App. 2014). Further, the deferential standard of review “does not bar this Court from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence.” *Id.*

**A. A *Franks* analysis of the affidavit was warranted.**

In *Franks v. Delaware*, the United States Supreme Court held that the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments afford a defendant the right in certain circumstances to challenge the veracity of a search warrant affidavit after the warrant has been issued and executed. *State v. Missouri*, 337 S.C. 548, 553, 524 S.E.2d 394, 396 (1999) (adopting the *Franks* test). This challenge may be based on false information in the affidavit or the omission of exculpatory material from the affidavit. *Id.* at 554, 524 S.E.2d at 397. In order to obtain relief, the defendant must prove the affiant knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, included false statements in the search-warrant affidavit. *State v. Robinson*, 415 S.C. 600, 606, 785 S.E.2d 355, 358 (2016). As for an omission, the challenger must make a preliminary showing that the information was omitted with the intent to make, “or in reckless disregard of whether it made, the affidavit misleading to the issuing judge.” *Missouri*, 337 S.C. at 554, 524 S.E.2d at 398. Upon this showing, the false or misleading information is stricken from the affidavit and the omitted facts are injected into the affidavit and the affidavit is then reviewed to determine if probable cause exists (the “*Franks* analysis”). *See Id.* at 155–156. If the court determines no probable cause exists, “the search warrant must be voided and the fruits of the search excluded to the same extent as if probable cause was lacking on the face of the affidavit.” *Id. See also Robinson*, 415 S.C. at 609, 785 S.E.2d at 359-60 (“[T]he good faith exception [to suppression] is not available where “the warrant issued is based on a search-warrant affidavit of the officer which contained representations known to be false.”))

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