**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000423

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAY 14 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN OSTROWSKI,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
Moss Justice Center  
York, SC 29745  
(803)-628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

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

Appellant's residence nor did they have any evidence that Appellant had sold drugs from that residence. Appellant contends this omission is not only an omission of exculpatory evidence but also an inclusion of false or misleading information. It is instructive to address Appellant's allegations separately.

### **False or Misleading Information**

Appellant's allegation that Burkhart included false or misleading information in the search warrant affidavit is meritless. There are no false statements within the affidavit. Burkhart never claimed that drugs were sold at Appellant's residence, nor did he claim that Appellant had sold drugs from his residence. Burkhart merely said law enforcement was conducting an ongoing investigation of Appellant "in reference to narcotic violations", and as part of that investigation they had conducted surveillance of Appellant's house for the preceding six months. (R. 593). This is a true statement. Law enforcement was engaged in a long term narcotics investigation that involved them conducting surveillance of Appellant and Peter's residence. It is also a true statement that Peters had outstanding warrants for distribution of Alprazolam and that she was arrested that same day in possession of Alprazolam and Clonazepam. Furthermore, it is true that Peter's said there was marijuana in Appellant's residence on the day the search warrant was executed. That Burkhart did not specify that there were no controlled buys made from Appellant's residence in the affidavit does not render any information in the affidavit false. The burden was on Appellant at the Franks hearing to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Burkhart included a deliberate falsehood in his affidavit or made statements in the affidavit with a reckless disregard for the truth. Appellant failed to meet his burden.

### **Exculpatory Information**

The next step in the Franks analysis is to determine whether there was any exculpatory information withheld from the search warrant. If so, the court must add the omitted information and determine whether probable cause still exists. Here, there was no exculpatory information withheld from the warrant. Law enforcement is only required to present sufficient information in an affidavit for an issuing judge to determine probable cause. A law enforcement officer need not include every piece of information obtained during the course of an investigation. Here, Burkhart testified that he did not know the controlled buys from Peters had occurred at a different residence. (R. 98). However, Burkhart acknowledged that Peters had multiple residences and she only lived at Appellant's residence "off and on." (R. 593). If we assume for the sake of argument that exculpatory information was left out of the affidavit, the next appropriate step in the Franks analysis is to add the omitted information to the affidavit and determine if the issuing judge would still have probable cause to issue the search warrant.

Here, Appellant claims that Burkhart omitted from the affidavit that no controlled buys had been made from Appellant's residence and that no controlled buys had been made from Appellant. If that information were added to Burkhart's affidavit, there would still be probable cause to issue the search warrant. The added information would not negate the fact that a known drug distributor had been living at Appellant's residence "off and on" for the previous five months. Nor would the added information change the fact that Peters told law enforcement that there was currently marijuana inside the residence on the day (January 25) that the search warrant was sought and executed. Therefore, the information presented to Lonergan-that Appellant resided with someone who law enforcement bought drugs from previously and who also told law enforcement that there were currently drugs inside the house-was sufficient for her

to determine that probable cause existed for a search warrant. That law enforcement never bought drugs from Appellant or from Appellant's residence does not diminish the basis for probable cause to search Appellant's residence. Therefore, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the results of the search warrant.

Outside of the Franks analysis, the search warrant still provided a sufficient basis for Lonergan to determine there was probable cause to search Appellant's home. The search warrant affidavit attested that Peters, a known drug dealer, was living at Appellants home for five months. Peters was then seen exiting Appellant's home and was arrested shortly thereafter and had Alprazolam and Clonazepam in her possession. Peters then told law enforcement there was currently marijuana inside Appellant's home. The factual scenario presented in this case is similar to cases where this Court has upheld the sufficiency of search warrant affidavits. See State v. Scott, 303 S.C. 360, 400 S.E.2d 784 (Ct. App. 1991). (Holding a search warrant for Scott's home was properly issued when law enforcement conducting surveillance of Scott's house and having outstanding warrants for Scott's arrest for cocaine distribution, observed him leave his home and then arrested him with cocaine in his possession); See also State v. Keith, 356 S.C. 219, 588 S.E.2d 145 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding a search warrant for Keith's home was properly issued when law enforcement, conducting surveillance of Keith's home, discovered marijuana in Keith's car after it was stopped shortly after leaving the residence). Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge properly allowed Investigator Leland Harrelson and Investigator Ryan King to offer their opinions as lay witnesses respectively on the significance of items found in Appellant's home and messages found on his phone. Both Harrelson and King had the relevant training and experience to be tendered as experts, but because the witnesses were not labeled as experts, their opinions did not prejudice Appellant. Even if Harrelson and King's testimonies were admitted in error, any error would have been entirely harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.**

Appellant next contends the trial judge erred by allowing two law enforcement witnesses to offer opinions on the significance of drug paraphernalia found at Appellant's home and text messages extracted from Appellant's phone. Appellant argues that such opinions were improper as lay witness testimony under Rule 701 SCRE and would only have been proper as expert witness testimony under Rule 702 SCRE. Appellant's argument is meritless. The State appropriately attempted to tender Investigator Leland Harrelson as an expert in drug investigations, but the trial judge ultimately declined that request. (R. 184-85). Both Harrelson and Investigator Ryan King had the appropriate expertise to testify to the significance of the items they found, but because they were not tendered as experts, Appellant was not prejudiced by their testimony because no extra credibility was assigned to it by attaching the label of expert. If the trial judge properly declined to tender Harrelson as an expert, then he and King's testimony was properly admitted as lay witness testimony because their opinions were rationally based upon their perception and did not require special knowledge, skill, or training. Even if the testimony of both investigators was improperly admitted under Rule 701, any error was entirely harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

"The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265. "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are

controlled by an error of law.” McDonald, 343 S.C. at 325, 540 S.E.2d at 467. Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. However, the South Carolina Rules of Evidence also allow lay witnesses to give their opinion under the following circumstances:

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness’ testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.

Rule 701, SCRE. “It is an inescapable fact that jurors can have a tendency to attach more significance to the testimony of experts.” State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 357, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013). “Lay witnesses are permitted to offer testimony in the form of opinions or inferences if the opinions or inferences are rationally based on the witness’ perception, and will aid the jury in understanding testimony, and do not require special knowledge.” State v Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 502, 671 S.E.2d 606, 608 (2009).

Here, Appellant contends the trial judge erred in allowing particular testimony from Investigator Harrelson and Investigator King. In regard to Harrelson, Appellant complains that Harrelson offered his opinion on the significance of various items found in Appellant’s home including digital scales, tin foil, sandwich bags and razor blades. In regards to King, Appellant contends King improperly offered his opinion on slang terms for different drugs found in text messages from Appellant’s phone. Contrary to Appellant’s assertion, both King and Harrelson

would have properly offered their opinions as expert witnesses, but in light of the trial judge's ruling their opinions were also admissible as lay witnesses rather than experts because their opinions were rationally based on their observations and did not require special knowledge, skill, experience, or training.

Prior to Harrelson's testimony, the trial judge ruled Harrelson would not be tendered as an expert, but that he could testify regarding the significance of what he found inside Appellant's house as a narcotics officer. (R. 185). Perhaps in light of the trial judge's ruling on Harrelson, the State did not attempt to tender King as an expert witness. Harrelson offered his opinion on the significance of a scale, tin foil, and razor blades as they related to a drug investigation. (R. 195-99)<sup>1</sup>. King testified about the significance of slang words found in the text messages extracted from Appellant's phone and how they related to drugs. (R. 388-96). Both witnesses had the proper training and experience to render expert opinions on the significance of their findings. However, their testimony was also properly admitted as lay witness testimony, because the subject matter they testified about was not beyond the understanding of an ordinary lay juror. Harrelson's testimony was helpful for the jury to clearly understand what he found, but his testimony did not require special training and experience. Likewise, the substance of Harrelson's testimony was not outside the understanding of an ordinary lay juror. The jury did not require an expert to explain that a drug dealer may use a digital scale to weigh drugs or use plastic baggies to package drugs. Similarly, King's knowledge of drug slang terms was acquired from his experience as a drug investigator and was helpful to explaining to the jury what Appellant's text

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant objected to Harrelson's testimony but did not do so on the grounds that it was improper opinion testimony, but rather on grounds of relevance under Rules 401 and 403 SCRE. (R. 196). See State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001). (A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground). See also State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 548 S.E.2d 213 (2001) (A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal).

messages meant. Like Harrelson's testimony, King's knowledge of drug slang did not require special knowledge or training. The jury also likely could draw their own conclusions about the terminology contained in the text messages. Certainly some text messages contained self-explanatory terms such as Appellant referring to himself as a "dealer." (R. 646).

If we assume the trial judge correctly declined to label Harrelson as an expert, then Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from his testimony. Indeed the trial judge was concerned about the weight that may be attached to the label of expert and expressed his concern in making his ruling. (R. 185). Certainly Appellant was able to vigorously cross examine Harrelson and question his conclusions regarding the significance he ascribed to certain items. (R. 284-85). Without the label of expert being attached to Harrelson, it was no doubt easier for Appellant to attack the credibility of his conclusions. Therefore, Appellant suffered no prejudice from the testimony of Harrelson or King.

#### **Harmless Error**

Assuming that Harrelson and King's opinions were admitted in error under Rule 701, any error was entirely harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

An appellate court generally will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). "The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence." State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008). In ruling on the admissibility of evidence, the trial judge has considerable latitude and his ruling will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice. State v. Kelly, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). An "error without prejudice does not warrant reversal." State v. King, 367 S.C.

131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 2005). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). “Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003).

The evidence presented against Appellant at trial was overwhelming. Appellant admitted ownership of drug paraphernalia found inside his residence. (R. 135, 468). Appellant also admitted that he was a methamphetamine addict and that his house was used by other people who also used methamphetamine. (R. 469). Text messages from Appellant’s phone were entered into evidence that showed Appellant attempting to exchange drugs for sex and referring to himself as a “dealer.” (R. 638, 646). Furthermore, the State was not even required to prove that Appellant was a drug dealer, but merely that Appellant was in actual or constructive possession of twenty eight grams or more of methamphetamine. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375 (C). Therefore, it is likely the jury determined Appellant’s guilt based on his own admissions and text messages rather than from the opinions of two officers about the significance of certain items found inside Appellant’s residence and on his phone.

Furthermore, the opinions of law enforcement were entirely consistent with the defense Appellant presented at trial. Appellant claimed that he was a methamphetamine addict who opened his house to other methamphetamine users (R. 467, 469). Appellant further claimed the pipes found at his house were his, but the methamphetamine found was not his. (R. 468). Therefore, law enforcement’s testimony about items related to using and dealing methamphetamine being found at Appellant’s home are consistent with Appellant’s defense;

namely that even though Appellant allows methamphetamine users to use his house, the specific drugs found belonged to a third party and not Appellant. Accordingly, even if the opinions of Harrelson and King were admitted in error under Rule 701, it is unlikely they prejudiced Appellant and the error was therefore harmless. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

### III.

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